
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

September 3, 2019  9:00 am 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 
 
A) Presentation of a Proclamation for Adult Education and Family Literacy Week. 

 
B) Recognition of the Finance Department for receiving the Government Finance 

Officers Association (GFOA) Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial 
Reporting for the City of Statesboro's FY2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report. 
 

C) Recognition of the Finance Department for receiving the Government Finance 
Officers Association (GFOA) Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular 
Annual Financial Reporting for the City of Statesboro's FY2018 Popular 
Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Report. 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 08-20-2019 Council Minutes 
b) 08-27-2019 Public Hearing Minutes (9:00 am) 
c) 08-27-2019 Public Hearing Minutes (6:00 pm) 

 
B) Consideration of a Motion to approve the due date of December 20th 2019 for the City 

of Statesboro Property Tax bills. 
 

C) Consideration of a motion to dispose of surplus equipment in accordance with the 
City’s Purchasing Policy Section 3: Vehicle and Equipment Surplus and Disposal. 

 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2019-29: A 

Resolution setting the millage rate for Ad Valorem (Property) Taxes for the 2019 
Calendar Year for the City of Statesboro at 7.308. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

7. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 
Sec. 6-5. 
 
A) The Hangout 
     Voncellies Allen 
     67 Gata Dr  
    Statesboro, GA 30458 
B) Southern City Lounge 
     Shyra Hunter/ Jason Williams 
     25 W Main St 
     Statesboro, GA 30458 
 

8. Public Hearing and First Reading of Proposed Ordinance 2019-08: An Ordinance 
amending Chapter 38 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances adding Article VII and 
establishing the Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive Program. 
 

9. Public Hearing and First Reading of Proposed Resolution 2019-30: A Resolution of the 
Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro Georgia to put in effect a six-month 
Moratorium on issuance of conditional use variances in order to exceed City Zoning 
Occupancy Limits and to Commission a six-month Comprehensive study on the 
Community Residences and Land Use Restrictions in the City. 
 

10. Other Business from City Council 
 
11.  City Managers Comments 
 
12. Public Comments (General) 

 
13. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA  
  

 
 

ADULT EDUCATION AND FAMILY LITERACY WEEK 
 

WHEREAS: Approximately 32 million Americans cannot read or write, and in Georgia 
alone, roughly 1.1 million individuals over the age of eighteen have not 
completed high school or received a General Educational Development 
certificate; and 

WHEREAS: Literacy rates are typically the lowest in economically disadvantaged 
communities. These low literacy rates often correlate with high 
unemployment rates, high crime rates, and welfare dependency; and 

WHEREAS: By promoting adult education and family literacy, we can ensure that all 
Georgia parents are prepared to help their children learn to read medicine 
bottles, navigate public transportation, practice comparative shopping, 
make correct change, and complete homework for school; and 

WHEREAS:  Increasing public awareness of literacy rates can alleviate illiteracy; and 

WHEREAS: Low literacy rates among adults may also be countered by supporting and 
strengthening workplace, school, and volunteer literacy programs on the 
local, state, and national levels; now 

THEREFORE:  I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro, do hereby proclaim 
September 8-14, 2019 as ADULT EDUCATION AND FAMILY 
LITER.ACY WEEK in Georgia. 

 

In witness thereof, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of Statesboro to be 
affixed this 3rd day of September in the year of our Lord, Two Thousand 
and Nineteen. 

 

________________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
CITY  HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                              COUNCIL MIBNUTES 
               AUGUST 20, 2019                                                    5:30 PM 

 

  

 
1. Call to Order 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  
 

2. Invocation and Pledge 
Councilman Derek Duke gave the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.

 
ATTENDENCE  
Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present  
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Sam Jones Councilmember Present  
Jeff Yawn Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present  
Derek Duke Councilmember Present  
 

Other staff present was: Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, City Attorney Cain Smith and City 
Clerk Sue Starling. Absent was City Manager Charles Penny. 

  
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 08-06-2019 Council Minutes 
b) 08-06-2019 Executive Session Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve an application for Sec.6-17(d) exemptions to open 

container prohibition.   
A) The Blue Room  

Manager- Kaleo Lyles   
1830 Chandler Rd   
  

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    



 
 

2 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
A motion was made to approve the application. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 19-07- 

01: Josh Whitfield requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 6 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum building sign height 
requirement of Sign District 4 in order to allow the placement of a building sign at 20 
feet located at 13 North Main Street (Tax Parcel S18 000015 000). 

 
 
A motion was made to open the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 



 
 

3 
 

 
  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
A motion was made to approve the application V 19-07-01 with staff recommendations. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CUV 19-

07-03:  Alicia Barnes Burnsed requests a conditional use variance from Article V of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.76 acres of property located at 508 East Main Street 
to utilize the property as an addiction recovery community residence in the R-15 (Single 
Family Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel MS71 000003 000). 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
Alicia Burnsed spoke in favor of the request. 
 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Derek Duke 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    



 
 

4 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
A motion was made to approve application CUV 19-07-03. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
A motion was made to direct City Attorney Cain Smith to write a resolution for a 
moratorium on group homes and recovery homes. 
 
A motion was made to approve the motion. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
8. Consideration of a Motion approve Resolution 2019-28: A Resolution for the adoption 

of the Statesboro 2019-2029 Comprehensive Plan.  
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2019-28. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Jeff Yawn 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Derek Duke 

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    



 
 

5 
 

 
  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
9. Consideration of a Motion to Award a Contract to New Way Trucks in the amount of 

$310,698.68 per Sourcewell contract # 112014-NWY for the purchase of a new CNG 
Front Load Refuse Truck.  Funding is provided from 2013 SPLOST funds. 
 

A motion was made to award a contract to New Way Trucks. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to authorize the Mayor to execute the GDOT Local 
Administered Projects (LAP) recertification application. 

 
A motion was made to authorize the Mayor to execute the GDOT Local Administered Projects 
(LAP) recertification application. 

 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
11. Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a Right of Way Mowing 

and Maintenance Agreement with the Georgia Department of Transportation. 
 
A motion was made to authorize the Mayor to execute a Right of Way Mowing and Maintenance 
Agreement. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Jeff Yawn 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Sam Jones 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Derek Duke 



 
 

6 
 

 
  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to set the dates for the required three (3) public hearings to 
solicit input regarding the millage rate of 7.308 for the 2019 property taxes. 1st  Public 
Hearing- August 27th  2019 at 9:00 am, 2nd  Public Hearing- August 27th  2019 at 6:00 
pm, 3rd  Public Hearing- September 3rd , 2019 at 9:00 am 

 
A motion was made to approve the public hearing dates. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
13. Other Business from City Council 
 
Councilman Boyum stated there was some concerns that a subcontractor came into a 
neighborhood to work on City water meters and the vehicles were unmarked. 

 
14. City Managers Comments 

 
Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles announced the drop-in reception for the retirement of 
City Clerk Sue Starling that is set for Tuesday August 27th at noon. 
 
 He also stated the City was on the finalist list for the Georgia Community Housing funding. 
 

15. Public Comments (General) 
 
Jerri Weaver addressed Mayor and Council regarding the run down houses on Morris St.  
 
A motion was made for City Attorney Cain Smith to bring the blight tax ordinance forward at the 
next council meeting. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Phil Boyum 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 



 
 

7 
 

  ABSENT: 
 
 
Jeff Klare updated Council on the Anti-bullying Day and J.J. King stated she donated a buddy 
chair to the park.  
 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel 

Matters” “Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-
14-3(b) 

 
There was no Executive Session held. 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn the meeting at 6:20 pm. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT 

Unanimous   

  Councilman Jeff Yawn 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

    



 
 

PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES 
August 27, 2019 9:00 am 

A Public Hearing was held on August 27th, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. in the Council Chambers at City 
Hall to solicit input from the public on the proposed 2019 millage rate of 7.308 for property 
taxes.  
Present was Council Member Derek Duke, City Manager Charles Penny, City Attorney Cain 
Smith, Director of Finance Cindy West and City Clerk Sue Starling.   
Also present was City Employees and one concerned citizen 
City Clerk, Sue Starling called the meeting to order. 
There was no one to speak for or against the proposed 2019 millage rate. 
There was no action taken. 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:01 a.m.  
 



 
 

PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES 
August 27, 2019 6:00 pm 

A Public Hearing was held on August 27th, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City 
Hall to solicit input from the public on the proposed 2019 millage rate of 7.308 for property 
taxes.  
Present was City Manager Charles Penny, City Attorney Cain Smith, Director of Finance Cindy 
West and Assistant City Clerk Leah Harden.   
Also present was one concerned citizen and news media.  
Assistant City Clerk, Leah Harden called the meeting to order. 
City Manager Charles Penny explained the meaning of a roll back and about the City’s budget 
process.  
There was no one to speak for or against the proposed 2019 millage rate. 
There was no action taken. 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:20 p.m.  
 







 RESOLUTION 2019-29: A RESOLUTION SETTING THE MILLAGE RATE FOR AD 
VALOREM (PROPERTY) TAXES FOR THE 2019 CALENDAR YEAR FOR THE CITY OF 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA AT 7.308. 

THAT WHEREAS, cities in Georgia rely upon the ad valorem (property) tax as one of the major 
sources of revenue to finance general government operations and capital outlay acquisitions; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 5 of Title 48 of the Official Code of Georgia authorizes cities to levy an ad 
valorem tax, and details the requirements necessary to do so; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro has complied with those requirements, including the 
advertisement of the proposed millage rate and a five-year history of levies; percentage 
increases; and whether a rollback of the millage rate was required; and  

WHEREAS, after careful consideration of the FY 2020 Operating Budget and Capital Budget, 
the growth in the tax digest from new construction, and the recommendation from the City Clerk 
that the millage rate be set at the same rate as the prior tax year;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia assembled this 3rd day of September, 2019, as follows:  

\ Section 1. That the millage rate for ad valorem (property) tax purposes for calendar year  
2019 is hereby set at 7.308 mills on all of the taxable real and personal property within the 
corporate limits of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, after applying all legal exemptions, credits, 
tax relief grants, and similarly authorized deductions.  

Section 2. The City Clerk is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to have the necessary 
tax bills prepared and mailed, and to use any and all statutorily-approved methods to collect said 
property taxes in a timely manner.  

Passed and adopted this____ day of __________, 2019.  

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA  

 

By: ________________________ 
                                                                                                               Jonathan McCollar, Mayor  

 
 

Attest: _______________________ 
                                                                                                                     City Clerk  

 





































































 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: August 23, 2019 
 
RE: September 3, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: First reading of proposed amendment to Chapter 38 of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances adding Article VII and establishing the 
Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive Program 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: On August 20, 2019 Council voted 5-0 in support of Councilman 
Phil Boyum’s motion to have attached proposed amendment prepared and 
considered at the September 3, 2019 meeting of Mayor and Council. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed amendment   



1  
  

Ordinance 2019-08 

Statesboro, Georgia, Code of Ordinances – Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive 
Program  

Chapter 38, Article VII. – COMMUNITITY REDEVELOPMENT TAX INCENTIVE 
PROGRAM  

  

Section 38-160 – Purpose.  
Section 38-161 – Definitions.  
Section 38-162 – Levy of increase ad valorem tax on blighted real property.  
Section 38-163 – Official identification of property maintained in blighted condition. 
Section 38-164 – Remediation or redevelopment to remove designation of blighted                               
condition.  
Section 38-165 – Decreased rate of taxation to be applied after successful remedial                                    
action or redevelopment of blighted property.  
Section 38-166 – Duty of code official to provide notice to county tax commissioner.  

  
Section 38-160 – Purpose.  

The existence of real property which is maintained in a blighted condition 
increases the burden of the state and local government by increasing the need for 
government services, including but not limited to social services, public safety services, 
and code enforcement services.  Rehabilitation of blighted property decreases this need 
for such government services.  

In furtherance of its objective to eradicate conditions of slum and blight within 
the City, the Mayor and Council in exercise of the powers granted to municipal 
corporations at Chapter 61, Urban Redevelopment, of Title 36 of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, has designated those areas of the City where conditions of slum and 
blight are found or are likely to spread.  

In recognition of the need for enhanced governmental services and in order to 
encourage private property owners to maintain their real property and the buildings, 
structures and improvement thereon in good condition and repair, and as an incentive to 
encourage community redevelopment, a community redevelopment tax incentive 
program is hereby established as authorized by Article IX, Section II, Paragraph VII(d) 
of the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia.  

  
Section 38-161 – Definitions.  

Blighted property, blighted, or blight means any urbanized or developed property which:  
  (A) Presents two or more of the following conditions:  

(1) Unhabitable, unsafe, or abandoned structure;   



  
  
  

2  
  

(2) Inadequate provisions for rain, ventilation, light, air, or sanitation;   
(3)  An imminent harm to life or other property caused by fire, flood, hurricane, 
tornado, earthquake, storm, or other natural catastrophe respecting which the governor 
has declared a state of emergency  under the state law or has certified the need for 
disaster assistance under federal law; provided, however, this division shall not apply  to 
property unless the relevant public agency has given notice in  writing to the property 
owner regarding specific harm caused by the property and the owner has failed to take 
reasonable measures to remedy the harm;   
(4) A site identified by the federal Environmental Protection Agency as a superfund 
site pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., or having environmental contamination 
to an extent that requires remedial investigation or a feasibility study;   
(5)Repeated illegal activity on the individual property of which the property owner knew 
or should have known; or   
(6)The maintenance of the property is below state, county, or municipal codes for at least 
one year after written notice of the code violation to its owner; and  
  
 (B) Is conducive to ill health, transmission of disease, infant mortality, or crime in the 
immediate proximity of the property. Property shall not be deemed blighted solely 
because of esthetic conditions.  
  
 ’Building Inspector’ means a certified inspector possessing the requisite qualifications to 
determine minimal code compliance.  
 
‘Code official’ means the City Manager or such officer or employee of the City as 
designated by the City Manager to perform the duties and responsibilities  hereafter set 
forth in this article. 
  
‘Community redevelopment’ means any activity, project, or service necessary  or 
incidental to achieving the redevelopment or revitalization of a redevelopment  area or 
portion thereof designated for redevelopment through an urban  redevelopment plan or 
thorough local ordinances relating to the repair, closing, and demolition of buildings 
and structures unfit for human habitation.  
 
‘Governing authority’ means the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro, a 
Georgia municipal corporation.  
  
‘Millage’ or ‘millage rate’ means the levy, in mills, which is established by the   
governing authority for purposes of financing, in whole or part, the levying  jurisdiction’s 
general fund expenses for the fiscal year.  



3  
  

  
‘Person’ means such individual(s), partnership, corporations, business entities and 
associations which return real property for ad valorem taxation or who are  chargeable by 
law for the taxes on the property.  
  

Section 38-162 – Levy of increase ad valorem tax on blighted real property.  
  
    There is hereby levied on all real property within the City which has been  
 officially identified as maintained in a blighted condition an increased ad valorem tax by 
adding a factor of seven (7.0) to the millage rate applied to the property, so that such 
property shall be taxed at a higher millage rate generally applied in the municipality, or 
otherwise provided by general law; provided, however, real property on which there is 
situated a dwelling house which is being occupied as the primary residence of one or more 
persons shall not be subject to official identification as maintained in a blighted condition 
and shall not be subject to increase taxation.  
  
     Such increased ad valorem tax shall be applied and reflected in the first tax bill   
 rendered following official designation of a real property as blighted.    
  
     Revenues arising from the increased rate of ad valorem taxation shall, upon   
 receipt, be segregated by the City Manager and used only for community redevelopment 
purposes, as identified in an approved urban redevelopment program, including defraying the 
cost of the City’s program to close, repair, or demolish unfit buildings and structures.  
  
Section 38-163 – Official identification of property maintained in blighted condition.  
  
(A) In order for a parcel of real property to be officially designated as maintained in a blighted 

condition and subject to increased taxation, the following steps must be completed:  
  
(1) An inspection must be performed on the parcel of property.  In order for an inspection to be 
performed,  
  

a. A request may be made by the code official or by at least one     
  resident of the City for inspection of a parcel of property, said     
  inspection to be based on the criteria as delineated in ordinance, or 

          
b. The code official may cause a survey of existing housing        
  conditions to be performed, or may refer to any such survey      
  conducted or finalized within the previous five years, to locate or    
  identify any parcels which may be in a blighted condition and for    
  which a full inspection should be conducted to determine if that      
  parcel of property meets the criteria set out in this article for      
  designation as being maintained in a blighted condition.  



  
  
  

4  
  

  
(2) A written inspection report of the findings for any parcel of property inspected 
pursuant to subsection (1) above shall be prepared and submitted to the code official. 
Where feasible, photographs of the conditions found to exist on the property on the date 
of inspection shall be made and supplement the inspection report. Where compliance 
with minimum construction, housing, occupancy, fire and life safety codes in effect    
within the City are in question, the inspection shall be conducted by an inspector 
possessing the requisite qualifications to determine minimal code compliance.  

  
(3) Following completion of the inspection report, the code official shall make a 
determination, in writing, that a property is maintained in a blighted condition, as defined 
by this article, and is subject to increased taxation.  

  
(4) The code official shall cause a written notice of his determination that the real 
property at issue is being maintained in a blighted condition to be served l upon the 
person(s) shown on the most recent tax digest of Bulloch County as responsible for 
payment of ad valorem taxes assessed thereon;  provided, however, where through the 
existence of reasonable diligence it  becomes known to the code official that real 
property has been sold or conveyed since publication of the most recent tax digest, 
written notice shall be given to the person(s) known or reasonably believed to then own 
the property or be chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes thereon, at the best 
address available.  Service in the manner set forth at O.C.G.A. § 41-2-12 shall constitute 
sufficient notice to the property’s owner or person chargeable with the payment of ad 
valorem taxes for purpose of this section, except that posting of the notice on the 
property will not be required.  

  
(B)       The written notice given to the person(s) chargeable with the payment of ad      
 valorem taxes shall notify such person of the code official’s determination the real   
  property is being maintained in a blighted condition and shall advise such person    
  of the hours and location at which the person may inspect and copy the code       
 official’s determination and any supporting documentation.  Persons notified that     
  real property of which the person(s) is chargeable with the payment of ad valorem    
  taxes shall have 30 days from the receipt of notice in which to request a hearing    
  before the Municipal Court.  Written request for hearing shall be filed with the      
  code official and shall be date stamped upon receipt.  Upon receipt of a request      
  for hearing, the code official shall notify the Municipal Court and the building      
  inspector or person who performed the inspection and prepared the inspection      
  report.  
  



5  
  

(C)      Within 30 days of receipt of a request for hearing, the Municipal Court Clerk      
 shall set a date, time, and location for the hearing and shall give at least ten     
 business days’ notice to the person(s) requesting the hearing, the code official and   
 the building inspector or person who performed the inspection and prepared the     
 inspection report.  Notice of scheduled hearings shall be published as a legal      
 advertisement in the Statesboro Herald, or other designated legal organ in      
 Bulloch County, at least five days prior to the hearing.  Hearings may be         
 continued by the Municipal Court judge upon request of any party, for good       
 cause.    

  
(D) At the hearing, the code official shall have the burden of demonstrating by a          

preponderance of the evidence that the subject property is maintained in a blighted condition, 
as defined by this article.  The Municipal Court judge shall cause a record of the evidence 
submitted at the hearing to be maintained. Upon hearing from the code official and/or their 
witnesses and the person(s) requesting the hearing and/or their witnesses, the Judge of 
Municipal Court shall make a determination either affirming or reversing the determination 
of the code official.  The determination shall be in writing and copies thereof shall be served 
on the parties by certified mail or statutory overnight delivery.  The determination by the 
court shall be deemed final.  A copy of such determination shall also be served upon the Tax 
Commissioner of  Bulloch County, who shall include the increased tax on the next regular 
tax bill rendered on behalf of the City.  

 
(E) Persons aggrieved by the determination of the court affirming the determination of the code 

official may petition the Superior Court of Bulloch County for a writ of certiorari within 30 
days of issuance of the court’s written determination.  

  
Section 38-164 – Remediation or redevelopment to remove designation of blighted 
condition.  
  
(A) A property owner or person(s) who is chargeable with the payment of ad       

 valorem taxes on real property which has been officially designated pursuant      
 to this article as property maintained in a blighted condition may petition the        
 code official to lift the designation, upon proof of compliance with the        
 following:  
 
(1) Completion of work required under a plan of remedial action or          
redevelopment approved by the City’s Director of Planning and Development which 
addresses the conditions of blight found to exist on or within the property, including 
compliance with all applicable minimum codes; or   
 
(2) Completion of work required under a court order entered in a proceeding brought 
pursuant to Article II of this Chapter. 

  



  
  
  

6  
  

(B) Before action on a petition to lift the designation, the code official shall cause the       
property to be thoroughly inspected by a building inspector who, by written inspection 
report, shall certify that all requisite work has been performed to applicable code in a 
workmanlike manner, in accordance with the specifications of the plan of remedial action or 
redevelopment, or applicable court order.  Upon finding required work to be satisfactorily 
performed, the code official shall issue a written determination that the real property is no 
longer maintained in a blighted condition. Copies of this determination shall be served upon 
the person(s) chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes, and upon the Tax 
Commissioner of Bulloch County.  

  
(C) All plans for remedial action or redevelopment shall be in writing, signed by the person(s) 

chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes on the real property and the City’s Director 
of Planning and Development, and contain the following:    

  
1. The plan shall be consistent with the City’s comprehensive plan and all laws and 
ordinances governing the subject property, and shall conform to any urban 
redevelopment plan adopted for the area within which the properties lies;  
 
2.The plan shall set forth in reasonable detail the requirements for repair,        
closure, demolition, or restoration of existing structures, in accordance with minimal 
statewide codes; where structures are demolished, the plan shall include provisions for 
debris removal, stabilization, and landscaping of the property;  
 
3.On parcels of five acres or greater, the plan shall address the relationship to local 
objectives respecting land uses, improved traffic, public transportation, public utilities, 
recreational and community facilities, and other  public improvements.  

  
4. The plan shall contain verifiable funding sources which will be used to       

complete its requirements and show the feasibility thereof;  
  

5. The plan shall contain a timetable for completion of required work; and  
  

6. Any outstanding ad valorem taxes (state, school, county and city, including the 
increased tax pursuant to this article) and governmental liens due and payable on the 
property must be satisfied in full.    

  
Section 38-165 – Decreased rate of taxation to be applied after successful remedial action or 
redevelopment of blighted property.  
  



7  
  

(A)  Real property which has had its designation as maintained in a blighted condition   
removed by the code official, as provided in Section 38-164(B) of this article, shall  
be eligible for a decrease in the rate of city ad valorem taxation by applying a factor 
of 0.5 to the city millage rate applied to the property, so that such property shall be 
taxed at a lower millage rate than the millage rate generally applied in the 
municipality or otherwise provided by general law; such decreased rate of taxation 
shall be applied beginning with the next tax bill rendered following removal of 
official designation of a real property as blighted.  The decreased rate of taxation may 
be given in successive years, depending on the amount of cost expended by the 
person(s) chargeable with payment of ad valorem taxes on the property to satisfy its 
remediation or redevelopment, with every $25,000.00 or the portion thereof equaling 
one year of tax reduction; provided, however, that no property shall be entitled to 
reduction in City ad valorem taxes for more than four successive years.    

  
(B) In order to claim entitlement for a decreased rate of taxation, the person(s)        

chargeable with payment of ad valorem taxes on the property shall submit a     
notarized affidavit to the building official, supported by receipts or other        
evidence of payment, of the amount expended.  

  
Section 38-166 – Duty of code official to provide notice to county tax commissioner.  
  
It shall be the duty of the building official to notify the Tax Commissioner of Bulloch County in 
writing as to designation or removal of designation of a specific property as maintained in a 
blighted condition.  Such notice shall identify the specific property by street address and tax 
map, block and parcel number, as assigned by the Bulloch County Tax Assessor’s Office.  The 
code official shall cooperate with the tax commissioner to assure accurate tax billing of those 
properties subject to increased or reduced ad valorem taxation under this article.     
            

  
  
  

  

  

  

  
  
  

  



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: August 23, 2019 
 
RE: September 3, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of a resolution to impose a six month moratorium 
regarding conditional use variance applications for community residences 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: On August 20, 2019 Council voted 5-0 in support of Councilman 
Phil Boyum’s motion to have attached resolution prepared and considered at 
the September 3, 2019 meeting of Mayor and Council. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed resolution   



1 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF BULLOCH 
 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATEBORO GEORGIA 
 

RESOLUTION # 2019 - 30 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STATEBORO GEORGIA TO PUT IN EFFECT A SIX MONTH MORATORIUM 
ON ISSUANCE OF CONDITIONAL USE VARIANCES IN ORDER TO EXCEED 
CITY ZONING OCCUPANCY LIMITS AND TO COMMISSION A SIX MONTH 
COMPREHENSIVE STUDY ON COMMUNITY RESIDENCES AND LAND USE 
RESTRICTIONS IN THE CITY 
 

WHEREAS, the proliferation of group homes in single family neighborhoods 
throughout the municipal limits of the City of Statesboro has been a source of  public 
health and safety concern for Statesboro residents and elected officials for years; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 20, 2019 Mayor and Council directed the preparation of a 
resolution to place a six month moratorium on issuance of conditional use variances in 
order to facilitate the use of community residences in all zoning districts to be considered 
and opened for first reading and public hearing on September 3, 2019; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council deem it in the best interest of the City and its 

residents to undertake during the moratorium the review and revision of the zoning and 
land use regulations as they relate to group housing within the City of Statesboro to find 
the proper means of protecting the legal rights of group home occupants while preserving 
the integrity of the City's zoning restrictions; and 
 

 WHEREAS, Mayor and Council have legal authority to initiate the review 
process by declaration of a moratorium; and 

 
 WHEREAS, The City of Statesboro and has the power and authority to enact 

regulations for valid governmental purposes that are not inconsistent with general or 
special law; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the public health, safety and welfare is a legitimate public purpose 

recognized by the courts of the State of Georgia; and 
 
WHEREAS, based upon the above facts, Mayor and Council deem it necessary 

and to be in the best interests of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens and 
residents of the City, to impose a moratorium on the processing and approval of any new 
applications for conditional use variances for community residences from October 1, 
2019 through March 31, 2020. 

 



2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO THAT:  
 

Section 1.The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed 
as being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Ordinance. These 
clauses represent the legislative findings of the Mayor and Council. It is the purpose and 
intent of this Ordinance to promote the health, safety and welfare of the residents and 
citizens of the City of Statesboro. 

 
 Section 2. Mayor and Council hereby declare a moratorium which shall run from 
October 1, 2019 until March 31, 2020. During such time the City will suspend the 
processing or approval of any applications for conditional use variances for group homes. 
The moratorium may be extended by Mayor and Council by subsequent resolution should 
additional time be needed by the City for the study and presentation of appropriate land 
development regulations. Nothing herein shall be interpreted or applied to prohibit the 
submission of or review of an application for reasonable accommodation during the 
moratorium period. 
  
 Section 3. If any clause, section, or other part or application of this Ordinance 
shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
unconstitutional or invalid part or application shall be considered as eliminated and so not 
affecting the validity of the remaining portions or applications remaining in full force and 
effect. 
 
 Section 4. All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or part of 
Resolutions in conflict herewith are to the extent of such conflicts hereby repealed. 
 
 Section 5. This Resolution shall take effect on October 1, 2019. 
 
 FIRST READING this 3rd day of September, 2019. 
  
 RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of September, 2019. 
    
      
 
     By:_______________________________________ 
           Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
     Attest:____________________________________ 
                   , City Clerk 
 
        
 


	09-03-2019 council agenda
	09-03-2019 Adult Literacy  Correct (1)
	08-20-2019 Council minutes
	08-27-2019 public hearing millage rate minutes 9 am
	08-27-2019 public hearing millage rate minutes 6 pm
	Asset Surplus Disposition
	09-03-2019 Resolution 2019-29 Millage rate
	Hangout Application
	09-03-2019 Southern City Lounge
	09-03-2019 Blight Tax  Memo
	09-03-2019 Statesboro blight tax codified
	09-03-2019 Group home moratorium Memo
	09-03-2019 Resolution 2019-30 GH Moratorium Resolution_OD Changes

